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UNITED STATES TARIFF COMMISSION

Washington
In the matter of an investigation Docket No. 19
with regard to the importation or Section 337 ‘
sale of certain watches, watch .
movements, and watch parts. Tariff Act of 1930a as amended
INTRODUCTION

On December 30, 1964 the Tariff Commission received an ameﬁded
complaint 1/ under section 337 of the Tariff Ac? of 1930, as amended
(19 vU.s.C. 1337), filed ﬁy'the Elgin National Watch Company of Elgin,
Illinois and the Hamilton Watch Company of Lancasger, Pennsylvania.
The Elgin-Hamilton complaint alleged a combination and conspiracy,
furthered by a varlety of acts and practices, to restrain and mbnopo-
lize United States trade and commerce in jeweled-lever watches, watch
movements,iand watch parts.

The Commission issued notice of receipt of the complaint in the

Federal Register for January 6, 1965 (30 F.R. 112) and in the Tfeasurx

Decisions for January 7, 1965. The complaint alleged that the follow=
ing persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or associations (arranged
below under three general headings) were engaged in activities in

violation of section 337.

1/ The Commission had tentatively concluded on October 26, 1964 that
complainants' first submission received April 17, 1964 did not state
good and sufficient reason for a full investigation and leave to amend
had been granted. ' :



14 Importers, all of whom have headquarters or principal
offices in New York:

Benrus Watch Co., Inc.

Concord Watch Co., Inc.

Cyma Watch Co., Inc.

Diethelm and Keller, U.S.A., Ltd.
Eterna. Watch Co., of America, Inc.
Jean R. Graef, Inc.

Gruen Watch Co.

Longines-Wittnauer Watch Co., Inc.
Norman M. Morris Corp.

Movado Watch Agency, Inc.

Rodana Watch Co., Inc.

Rolex American Watch Corp.

The Henrl Stern Watch Agency, Inc.
American Watch Association, Inc.

2, Swiss watchmaking industry'organizatidnsx-

Federation Suisse des Associations de Fabricants

D'Horlogerie, Bienne Switzerland (hereinafter FH)

Ebauches S.A., Neuchatel, Switzerland (hereinafter
Ebauche S.A.)

L'Union des Branches Annexes de L'Horlogerie, La
Chaux de Fonds, Switzerland (hereinafter UBAH)

Societe Generale de L'Horlogerie, La Chaux de Fonds,
Switzerland (hereinafter the Watch Chamber)

The Watchmakers of Switzerland Information Center,
Inc., New York (hereinafter WOSIC) '

3, Certain FH members not'having watchmaking facilities in the
continental United States:

Benrus Watch Co., Inc.

Concord Watch Company,  S.A.

Eterna, S.A.

Gruen Watch Manufacturing Co., S.A.
Fabrique Movado, S.A.

Girard Perregaux and Co., S.A.
Omega Watch Company

Cyma Watch Co.

Montres Rolex, S.A.

Wittnauer et Cie., S.A.



Complainants asserted, among other alleged violations of section
337, that the above-named personms, partnerships, corporations and
associations individually and in concert:

had been and were conspiring to restrain unreasonably
and monopolize United States trade and commerce in watches,
watch movements, and watch parts}

had combined and conspired to discourage, restrict,
and eliminate the manufacture of watches, watch movements,
and watch parts in the United States, and to restrain United
States imports of watches, watch movements, and watch parts
for both manufacture and repair purposes;

had agreed to regulate the terms of sale.and methods
of distribution of watches, watch movements, and watch
parts imported into and manufactured in the United Statesy

had restrained and prohibited United States manufac-
turers with affiliates in Switzerland, or otherwise dealing
with the alleged combination, from purchasing watches, watch
movements, and watch parts from sources outside the alleged
combination, imposed limitations on the volume of United
States production of watches, watch movements, and watch’
parts on the kinds of watch components produced, and pro-
hibited the rendering of technical aid or assistance to
United States manufacturers by members of the alleged combi-
nation;

had agreed to manipulate and fix prices on watches and
watch movements imported into the United Statesy

had discriminated in prices charged for watches, watch
movements, and watch parts between areas with domestic watch
industries and those without such industries; and

had conducted a continuing surveillance over Swiss
affiliates of United States watch manufacturers, threatened
reprisals, and invoked sanctions and penalties against these
affiliates as a means of enforcing the restrictions imposed.



On April 27, 1965, the Commission, in accordance with sectioﬁ
203 .4 of its Rules of Practice ananrocedure (19 CFR 203.4) instituted -
a full investigation into the allegations of the Hamilton-Elgin com=
plaint and scheduled a public hearing for July 19, 1965. Notice of

this action was published in the Federal Register for April 30, 1965

(30 F.R. 6131) and in Treasury Decisions for May 6, 1965.  In the

period prior to the hearing several questionnaires were dispatched‘by
the Commission regarding issues raised by the complaint and by an
initial evidential submission received from the complainants. Some
~ of these questionnaires weré sent to U.S.ﬂimporters of watches and
others to Swiss respondents. As the Swiss Ambassador to the quted
Sﬁates had evidenced an interest in the investigation, an informal
.liaison was established between the Commission and the Swiss govern=-
ment through the Department of State. Members of the Commission staff
also maintained an informal contact with the Department of Justice
dufing the investigation. | |

At the hearing, testimony was given on behalf of complainants
by Mr. Arthur Sinkler, President of the Hamilton Watch Company. There
was testimony from but one other witness, Mr. Sol Flick, Executive
Vice President of the Bulova watch Company, who appeared in response
to a subpoena from the Commission. Reply to the testimony and docu~
menfary evidence introduced by complainants which,.insofar as 1t per=

tained to activities and agreements initiated in Switzerland, related



to matters particularly within the knowledge of the Swiss resbondents,
was made on the basis of documeﬁtaty évidence alone,

'When, after two days of hearings, all parties had completed their
presentation of evidence and argument, the Commission decided that
additional information was needed--particularly from the Swiss respond-
ents~~-as the record appeared insufficient to enable the Commiésion
satisfactorily to make its determination of the issues. The hearing,
therefore, was recessed.

The presence of competent witnesses from Switzerland would have
facilitated the Commission's investigative task and contributed mater-
ially to the understanding of the Swiss watchmaking industry and its
activites affecting U.S, trade and commerce. HoweQer, Swiss respondents

_repeatedly refused to furnish witnesses from Switzerland competent to
testify with respect to the points involvea in the investigation, and
the Commission was unable, due to their being outside the United States,
to compel such persons to appear before it. Confronted with this diffi-‘
culty, the Commission resorted to a detailed questionnaire, which was
dispatched to Switzerland, to be answered\by appropriate industry persons,
in an attempt to obtain some of the additional information desired.
Answers to this questionhaire having been received, the hearing was
reconvened on the 23rd of November 1965. At that time the answers to the
questionnaires and certain economic data were offered and admitted into

the record. The hearing was then closed.



The remainder of this report presents the conclusions
of the Commission, an analysis of the application of section 337 to the
facts found, and the Commission's detailed findings of fact.

1/
CONCLUSIONS OF THE COMMISSION

As the result of this investigation instituted, upon'complaint,'
under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, the Tariff Commission does
not find unfair methods of competition or unfair acts in the importation
of watches, watch movements, or watch parts into the United States,.or
in their sale by an owner, importer, consignee, or agent of either, the
effect or tendency of which»is to restrain or ﬁonopolize trade and com-
merce in the United States.

The complaint alleged a combination and conspiracy, furthered'by
various acts and practices, to restrain unreasonably and monopolize
-tréde and commerce in watches, watch movements, and watch parts in the
* United States. The numerous respondents included certain U.S. import-
ers of Swiss watches, several Swiss producers of watches ana watch paf?s,
and other companies and associations comprising a significant secto; of
the Swiss watchmaking industry. Complainants (two U.S. manufactufers
of jeweled-lever watches) asserted that the object of the alleged combi-
nation and conspiracy, and of specified actions allegedly pursued in
furtherance thereof, was to discourage domestic manufacture of jeweled-
lever watches and to eliminate them as a significant competitive chtor_

in the United States market.

1/ Chairman Kaplowitz and Commissioner Thunberg abstained from
voting on the findings in this investigation; the former because
the Commission investigation had been concluded by the time he
entered into office, and the latter because the processing of the
case was well advanced at the time she entered into office.



Many of the acts and practices alleged in the Elgin-Hamilton
complaint had, in October 1954, been alleged by the Department of
Justice in a civil action involving substantially the same parties

(United States v, Watchmakers of Switzerland Information Center, et al.;

Civil Action No. 96-170, S.D.N.Y., Dec. 20, 1962) under section 1 of
the Sherman Act and section 73 of the Wilson Tariff Act. In 1962, the
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York had deter=~
ﬁined, on the basis of evidence of practices predating the filing of
the Department's complaint, that several of the defendants concerned
(others had been dismissed 6: had entered into consent decrees) had |
been party to a combination and conspiracy in contravention.of the |
Sherman and Wilson acts. As a consequence of this finding, the court
had issued an order--to which the defendants concerned acceded--enjoin-
ing them from further acting in pursuit‘of this combination and con-
spiracy, and requiring them to renounce certain undertakings which
restrained unreasonably U.S. manufacture, imports,; exports, or salé

of watches, watch parts, or watchmaking machinery.

In view of the rather special circumstances outlined in the pre-
ceding paragraph, an§ the fact that the remedy provided by section 337
does not operate in retrospect,.it was manifest that, once section 337
_proceedings had been initiated, the task of the Commission was to con-
duct an investigation which would fully develop the facts, and, on the
basis of the record thereby establiéhed, to determine whether the

alleged combination and conspiracy was viable and in violation of the



provisions of section 337. Had the order of the U.S., District Court

not intervened in the period before the institution of the Commission's
investigation and.after the acts and practices on the basis of which the
court found violation of tﬁe Sherman and Wilson acts, the issues befor§ 
the Commission might have been different. Section 337, however, does
not provide for refusal from entry in perpetuity, but only until thé
President finds that the conditions which led to such refusal from entryv'
no longer exist. Therefo;e, and becauae the intervening order of the
court was followed by corrective measures taken in compliance therewith,
the Commission has confined its conclusions generally to the circum-
stancés extant after the céuft's final order..

As the detailed findings of fact which folloﬁléisclose, the,conditions‘
found by the Commission cur:ently to exist differ materially from those
determined by the court to have prevailed in the past. In the more
than eleven years which have elapsed since the institutioﬁ'of thé civil
.action under the Sherman and Wilson acts, there have been numerous
changes in the structure of agreeménts between the firms and o?ganiza-‘
tions comprising the Swiss watchmaking in&ustry, in the provisions of
Swiss law relating to this structure and watch production generally in
Switzerland, and in the competitive structure of United States trade
and commerce in watches and watch parts. Many of tﬁese changes, how-

ever, had little or no effect on the violations of U.S., law found by

1/ Pp. 15-100, infra.



the court to exist. Of far greater consequence are the steps certain
of the respondents in this investigation have taken at the instance

of the court to remove restraints om U.S. trade and commerce’from their
agreements, and the inhibitions placed upon them by the court's final
order.

It has been established that in Switzerland the.various enterprises.
which can be said to comprise the Swiss watchmaking industry (or the
so-called Swiss watch cartel) are bound together, both horizontally
and vertically, by a‘complicated érrangement of ownership (including
holding and super-holdinglarrangements), assbciatién, and private
agreements (both intra- and inter-national), the whole ce@eﬁted by
self-interest and private and public sanctions. This "cartel" did
not confine itself to regulating trade within the Swiss industry,'but
extended its restraints to trade and commerce elsewhere, including the
United States. The New York District Court found in 1962 that, since '
at least 1931 and continuing to the date of the finding, members of the
industry and certain U.S. importers and producers (most of whom are
respondents in this investigation) had been and were engaged'iﬁ a com~
bination and conspiracy to restréin unreasoﬁably the foreign and inter-
state trade and commerce of the United States in the manufacture, import,
export and sale of watches, watch parts and watchmaking machines in
violation of the Sherman and Wilson acts. The record before the Cpmmis-
sion, however, does not contain substantial evidence that these persons,

assoclations, firms, and corporations, respondents in this investigation,
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among themselves.or in concert with the United States importers or
..sellers, are currenély party to a contract, combination, or conspifacy
in restraint of, or tending to restrain unreaéonably, trade and commerce
in the United Stateé, or that they have monopolized or are engaged in a
combination or conspiracy to monopolize trade and commerce in jeweled-
lever watches, watch movements, or watch parts in the United States.

The Commission's investigation, however, as did the findings of
the New York District Court, discloses that several of thé.respondeﬁte
have demonstrated in the past both the ability and the inclination to
impose unreasonable restraints on trade and csmmefce in the ﬁﬁitedw
States in the ﬁahufacture, importation and sale of wétches,»wé;ch pafts,
and watchmaking machines. Moreover, these same respondents have demon-
strated in the intricacy and constant propagation of thgif'commercial
arrangements a remarkable degree of #daptability and inventivehess,'aqd-
.a propensity for using their joint power not only to secufe‘a competi-
tive advaqtage but also unreasonably to inhibit competition;l/

Nevertheless, the Commission does nét find that the.féspondentg\are

‘currently engaged in unfair methods qf competition or unfair actsiin
the impoftgtion of watches, watch movements, or watch parts into the
United States, or in their sale, of sufficlent viability to bring them
within the proscriptioné of section 337 and the application of its

sanction.

1/ Commissioner Sutton does not join in the expressionsvof this
paragraph. '
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APPLICATION OF SECTION 337 OF THE TARIFF ACT OF 1930
TO THE ACTS AND PRACTICES IN EVIDENCE

of the.acta and practices evidenced in fhe record of this inves~
tigation, by far the greater number'predate the institution of the
ﬁepartment of Justice's antitrust complaint against several of the
' respondents, and these respondents are currently enjoined from contin-
uing them. Ebauches S.,A. and FH have taken steps to renounce many of
their contracts and agfeements wh}ch plaged unreasonable restraints
upon United States importations, sales and domestic manufacture of
watches, watch movements,vwatch pérté, and watchméking machiﬁefy. In
addition, these same respondents have specificéliy'modified several of
the agreements to which they are party,in order to render their restraints
inapplicable to Unitéd States trade and commerce in watch parts.

Other practices of respondenis (FH minimum price regulatioms,
"Ebauches S.A. standard caliber movement production, and the use by
fH of its 50 centimes levy) do ﬁot appear to be: applications of
unreasonable restraints on United States importations, sales or domes-
tic manufacture of watches, watch movements, or watch parts; acts or
practices which demonstrate the persistence of a combination or con-
spiracy in restraint of trade and commerce in the United States;l/or
evidence that respondents are monopolizing or attempting to monopolize

trade and commerce in watches, watch movements or watch parts in the

United States.

1/ The use of a part of the 50 centimes levy in attempts to in-
fluence public officials of the U.S. Government, while not illegal,
either standing alone or as a part of a broader scheme, may be con-
sidered "to the extent that it tends reasonably to show the purpose
and character of the particular transactions under scrutiny".

United Mine Workers v. Pennington, 381 U.S. 657, 670 (1965) (dictum).
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The demand by FH that Hamilton limit its production of watch
movements in the U.S, Virgin Islands, which, if obeyed, might well
have directly affected U.S. importations of watches and watch move-
ments (as it was doubtless intended to do) was not met by Hamilton

‘and no restraint thergby of trade and commerce in the United States
was effected.l/ Other action by one or more of the respondent orgdni-
zations or firms within the Swiss watchmaking ihdustry (openiy'dr in
fhe guise of Expanshof) with respect to importations of watches'and
watch movements into the United States from the Virgin Islands is as
yet conjectural.

Still otﬁer matters in evidence relate to events-which occurred
before issuance of the New York District Céurt'é enjoinder aéainst
respondents. Most of these matters would appear, to the extent fhat
1they might otherwise represent applications of restraints to U.S. trade
and commerce, to be forbidden by the court's final order. 'Amonglthem,,
are Hamilton's problems in securing unassembled shock resistors from
non-Swiss European firms. Either as a result of the court's order,
or possibly because of the Commission's investigatioﬁ, Bulova h%s been
permitted admittance to CEH.

The Swiss watchmaking organizations and the complex system of

contracts, ownership, and agreements which binds them together and

.

1/ It may, however, be some evidence of a continued conspiracy to
restrain trade and commerce in the United States in watches and watch
movements . :
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generally limits competition.betﬁeengthem, remain_little changed as

a consequence of the court's action or the Commiasion'skinvestigation.
With the exception of the changes wprked_in them in order that they

- might be rendered inapplicable to United States trade and commerce,

the agreements with respect to reserved areas of production, prices;,

and exclusive deaiing_remain substantially as they have been. The'
"cartel" continues to supply a substantial share of the wgtches,-watch'
movemeqts and watch parts sold in the United States, but does not appeag
to have attained monopoly power in such markets.

The existence of such an arrangement”of-fqreign producers; the
products of which enter and are sold in subgtantial amount in the
United States, does not ggg_gg establish a violation of the fgovisions-'
of section 337. The provisions of section 337 do not inhibit the
freedom of foreign concerns to organize themselves or conduct their
commercial operations in foreign countries (not affectiﬁg trade and
commerce in the United States) as they please and as the apflicable
law permits. Nor does section 337 penalize mere success in the United
States domestic market. If, however, in the importation or sale of
articles such an organ;zation imposes unreasonable restraints upon
trade and commerce in the United States, or monopolizes such trade
and commerce, or engages in unfailr methods of competition tending to
so restrain or monopolize trade and commerce in the United States,

section 337 may be applicable.
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The record before the Commission does not disclose that the
respondents are engaged in a combination or cohspiracy to restrain
or monopolize trade and commerce in the United States. There is

" restraints to

no evidence of current application of the '"cartel's
importations into, or sales in, the United States. Nor is there
evidence that the Swiss watchmaking industry, or any of its elementé,
have monopolized or are presently conspiring or otherwise attempting
to monopolize United States trade and commerce in watches, watch
movements or watch parts;

As a consequence, no bésis exists for a recommendation by the

Commission that the President, pursuant to section 337, order the

exclusion of articles from entry into the United States.



i5

FINDINGS OF FACT

Evolution and Activities of the Swiss Watchmaking
"Cartel' Prior to October 1954

Antitrust Civil Action

On October 19, 1954, the Department of Justice filed suit in the'
V.S, District Court for the Southern District of New York charging an
unlawful combinatioﬁ and conspiracy in unreasonable restraint of inter-
state and foreign trade and commerce of the United States in jeweled
watches, component parts and repalr parts thereof,iin violation of
gection 1 of the Sherman Acﬁ, 15 U.5.C. Sec. 1, and section 73 of the
Wilson Tariff Act, 15 U.S.d. Sec. 8: |

Among thé defendants named in the Department's complaint were:!
the Federation Suisse des Assoclations de Fabricants d'Horlogerie (FH);
Ebauches S.A.; the Watchmakers of Switzerland Information Center, Inc.
(a wholly owned subsidiary of FH and Ebauéhes S.A.); thefAﬁefican Watch
Association, Inc. (an association of importers of Swiss watches); fhe
Bulova Watch Company; the Benrus Watch Company; the Gruen Watéh‘COmpany;
Ohio} Longines-Wittnauer Watch Company, New York; Eterna, A.G.,VUnfeﬁ~
fgbrik; Montres Roléx, S.A.; Eterna Watch Company of America;~Tﬁe
American Rolex Corporation; Jean R. Graef, Inc., N.Y.; and many others,
Cited as '"co-conspirators' were: Union des Branches Annex de 1l'Horlogerie
(UBAH) ; Societe Generale de 1'Horlogerie de Suisse (ASUAG or Sﬁperholding)g
nﬁmerous Swiss manufacturers of brand name watches i&ported by the

American defendants; and several importers of repair parts.
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Stated briefly, the Government's case alleged that these parties - -
had engaged in a broad combination and conspiracy since 1931 in order
to cause! l

' 1/ 4

(a) the manufacture of watches and component parts within the
U.S. to be prevented, discontinued, or curtailed; |

(b) the importation of component parts from Switzerlan&_into the
U.S. to be eliminated egcept under special circumstances;

(c) the importation of watéhes and component parts into the U.S.
from all countries.other than Switzerlan& to be eliminated;

(d) the exportation of'American-produced compoﬁent parté from the
U.S. to Switzerland and re-exportation of Swiss-prdduced
watches or component parts frbm the U.S. to the rest of the
world to be eliminated or stricfly limited;

(e) m;nimum prices for watches and maximum prices fqr repair parts
to be established and enforced for such producté imported
into and sold within the United States; and'

(f) methods of distribution in the United States of watches,

| component'parts and repair parts imported from Switzerland
to be regulated.

The Government contended that the Collective Convehtion, an agree-

ment for the comprehensive regulation of the production, sale and export

1/ "Watches" was, for the purpose of the antitrust action, defined -
to include only those with a jewel-lever escapement and with a minimum
of seven jewels. ' :
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of watches, componenﬁ parts and repair parts of the Swiss watch
industry, was an unreasonable restraint on trade. It also alleged
that certain of the defendants had entered into agreements to cease
manufacturing in the United States, to refrain from establiéhing
facilities in the United States, and/or to refrain from assisting
existing watch manufacturers. Boycotting, "blécklisting", and fines
were alleged to have been employed to enforce the terms of the:;on-
spiracy.

In its prayer for relief, the Government sougﬁt to invalidate
those agreements between the defendants which-unrgasonably.réstrained.
'~ the import, export or domestlc trade and commerce of the United States
in violation of the Sﬁerman Act and the Wilson Tariff Act.l In»addition,
'the Government sought perpetually to enjoin the defendants from partici-
pating in, maintaining, or carrying out the alleged combinationm, |
conspiracy and agreements. The Government included a prayer for the
court to have the parties "perpetually enjoined from importing into
the United States any brand-named Swiss watches subject in theif manu-
facture, sale or distribution to any or all of the unlawful restrictions
herein described".

A consent decree was signed on March 9, 1960 by the AWA, Eterna
Watch Co. of America, Inc., Diethelm and Keller (ﬁSA) Ltd,, Concord
Watch Co., Inc., Movado Watch Agency, Inc., Jean R. Graef, Inc., The.

Hénri Stern Watch Agency, Inc., the American Rolex Watch Corporation,
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Rodana Watch Company, Inc., Cyma Watch Co., Inc., and Norman M. Morris
Corporation, among others. The parties to the consent decree fielded
to substantially'all of the Government's demands.

Trial as to the remaining defendants (F.H., Ebauches S.A.,
Watchmakers of Switzerland Information Center, Inc., Wittnauer et Cie.,
Longiﬁes—Wittnauér Co., Eterna, A.G., Gruen Watch Manufacturing do.,
S.A., Gruen Wgtch Company, Bulova Watch Company, Inc., and Benrus Watch
Company) commenced on November 14,v1960; The court later &ismissed the
action as to the Watchmakers of Switzerland Inform;tion Center.

| Development of Swiés Watchmaking Orgaﬁizationé,
the Collective Convention, and Measures in
Restraint of U.S. Trade and Commerce

Testimony before the district court disclosed a long-standing
combination and conspiracy to restrain unreasonably the foreign and
interstate trade and commerce of the United étates in the manufacture,

" import, export and sale of watches, watch parts and watchmaking mach-
ines. The findings of the court provide an authoritative account of
the history and development of the allegedly persisting conspifacy and
were not contested by respondents in this invéstigation. The codrf's
findings revealed that the combination and conspiracy had been pursued

_ by several organizations within the Swiss watchmaking industry and

certain individual firms since about 1931. The development of-the
prinqipal organizations of the Swiss watchmaking industry apd the wax-

ing of their strength and the number of restrictive agreements between
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them, and with others, was a gradual process, carried out with increas-
ingly complex results over a number of years. By briefly reviewing it,

current circumstances can be placed in context and accurately assessed.

Early development of the Swiss watchmaking
organizations and related government measures

yThe present structure of organizations within the Swiss watch
industry had its genesis in the early 1920s. In 1921 and 1922'the.
ihdustry suffered a depression which severely reduced production and
employment to levels substantially below thoée aftained duringband
immediately following the First World War. Thé Swiss Confederation
responded to the distress of the watchmaking industry with financial
‘assistance in the amount of 9.5 million francs. The industry gradually
iecovered from its depression and by 1929 Swisé watch exports were
' approximately at the 1919 level. 1In thé interim, however, producers
representing major elements of the Swiss watchmaking industry had taken
_significant steps toward organization of the industry.

Directionj;as supplied to these first steps by the Swiss Watch
Chamber, an unincorporated private association organized in 1876 for
the purpose of defending the genera} interests of the Swiss watch
industry by, among other things, obtaining and disseminating informa-
tion on foreign competition, and acting as the link between the

industry and Swiss government authorities. In 1923, the Watch. Chamber

brought together representatives of regional employer organizations
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vto explore the possiﬁility oonrgéniZing.national manufacturing so
that measures could be taken to secﬁre the "common interests'" of tﬁe
watch.industry:l/
Initial action in pursuilt of the suggested objectives consisted
of the establishment of major grdupings of producers on each of the
three main levels of watch production, that is, in tﬁe manufactﬁre'of
watches, ebaucheszf and separate parts. In 1924, there was formed a
federation of associations whose members were Swiss maanacturers‘éna
assemblers of jeweled-lever and cylinder watches. This organization
was named the Federation Suisse des Fabricants d'Horlogerie, and is
commonly referred to as FH.. In 1926, a holding company, Ebauches S.A.,
was established to secure ownership of the stbck of firms spécializing
in the manufacture of ebauches, thus gaining controi of their operations.
‘Eroducers of watch component parts, including regulating parts (hair-
‘springs, balance wheels,.and escapements), were béund together in L'Union
des Branches Annexes de l'Horlogerie (UBAH) in 1927.
On December 1, 1928, these three organizations (FH, UBAH and,‘

Ebauches S.A.) were linked by agreements designed to enforce minimum

prices for their respective products and to prevent the export of

1/ At the time, the Swiss watchmaking industry was predominated
by small, highly specialized enterprises, many of which pursued
independent policies. This prompted the adoption of ground rules
to prevent mutually disadvantageous competition.

2/ -The complete frame of the movement--the plates and bridges.
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ebauches and unassembled moveméntsw. This‘initiai arrangement did not,
however, prove effective in eradicating '"chablonnage', for some '"dissi~- -
dent" firms remained outside the scope of the agreements and the conven-
‘tions were ignored by some ebauches manufacturers. Thus, foreign buyers
were able without great difficulty, in spite of the conventions, to
obtain regulating parts (escapements%/ balancevwheels and hairspfiﬁgs)
not only for repair but also for assembly of new movements,

In 1931, steps were taken to strengthen control over this sectog'
of the industry by the formation of a super-holding company; Societe‘
Generale de 1'Horlogerie de Suisse, §.A., variously known as Super-
holding and ASUAG, to control the operagions of companies Which admin-
istered the key plants in the production of leQer watches, thac is,
‘those manufacturing ebauches, escapements, balance wheels, and hair-

. springs%/ From the time of its inception ASUAG controlled most of the
production of ebauches and regulating parts for Swiss jeweled-lever

watch movements and established guide lines with respect to the produc~

tion and sales policies of its subsidiary companies.

1/ The export of ebauches and unassembled movements (termed
"chablons'") was called 'chablonnage', and believed by the watch
manufacturers and assemblers in particular to be detrimental to
their interests.

2/ Escape wheels and levers.

3/ The Swiss firms manufacturing these three components were
organized within ASUAG as four functional holding companies:
Ebauches S.A., Les Fabriques d'Assortiments Reunies, S.A., Les
Fabriques d'Balanciers Reunies, S.A.,and La Societe des Fabriques
des Spiraux Reunies, S.A., respectively.
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With the formation of ASUAG the Swiss government again became
active in the organization of the watch industry. By virtue of a
federal decree of September 26, 1931, it owned capital stock in ASUAG
giving it control over six-sixteenths of the votes for directors of
ASUAG, Five-sixteenths of the votes were controlled by a syndicate
of banks from the horological cantons and the remaining five-sixteenths
by Ebauches S.A., FH, and UBAH. The Swiss government also advanced |
ASUAG a large interest-free loan shortly after the super-holding
company's formation.

Although ASUAG held a majority of the stock of the firms special-
izing in the manufacture of ebauches, escapemenﬁs, balance wheels and
hairsprings, it was unable to eradicate the practice of exporting
ebauches and unassembled movements. ASUAG failed to achieve ifs oﬂjec-
tive of eliminating chablonnage because it still did not control through
Ebauches S.A. every one of the firms specializing in the production of
ebauches and regulating parts and because new firms could be freely
established.

1/
As a result, the Swiss government again took action. By a sFatuteJ
adopt;d October 14, 1933, entitled '"Measures of Economic Defensé against
Foreign Countries', the Swiss Federal Assembly (the legislative branch

"of the Swiss government) authorized the Swiss Federal Council (an execu-

tive body, which also exercises delegated legislative powers) to issue

1/ Termed by the Swiss a "decree'.
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decrees for the protection of various Swiss industries. In 1934 the
Federal Council decreed that the export of chablons, ebauches and
geparate parts was proﬁibited without a permit issued by either the
Swigs Watch Chamber or Fidhor.l/ Moreover, gnless otherwise directed
by the Department of Public Economy (the DEP), such expoft permits
would be granted solely for deliveries conforming to the conventions
entered into by the watchmakers' organizations. As a corollary meas-
ure, this same decree established the requirement that the creation,
expansion, or conversion of any watch-making enterprise, including but
not limited to factories for producing ebauches and regulating parts,
could be accomplished only if a permit were granted by the DEP., It was
specified that no such permit could be issued if such a change in pro-
duction in any way would prejudice the interests of the watch industry.
These steps went far toward placing the expansion of the watchmaking
.industry under control by imposing on firms permitted to enter the
watchmaking field the trade policy of the establish<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>